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FIG. 1. JOHN THOMPSON CRELLIN. | PHOTO: SPECIAL THANKS TO ALICE CRELLIN INGLE.

The abundant published materials that 
offered design inspiration and aes-

thetic advice in England and the United 
States from the late eighteenth cen-
tury onward were a major influence on 
nineteenth-century architecture. Recent 
scholarship examining house patterns 
published in The Canada Farmer between 
1864 and 1876 has revealed the power of 
print media to shape an array of relatively 
modest dwellings in towns and cities in 
Southern Ontario. This article will show 
the impact of print media on rural hous-
ing in Oxford County and the role of an 
unknown English immigrant stonemason, 
John Thompson Crellin, in the translation 
of five designs published by James Avon 
Smith in The Canada Farmer into twelve 
stone farmhouses. Working between 
1870 and 1891, Crellin developed a 
unique, instantly recognizable colour 
pattern on his façades derived from 
multi-coloured fieldstones sourced from 
farmers’ fields. The widely disseminated 
ideas of the British theorist John Ruskin 
seem to be reflected in these farmhouses, 
particularly in the ways Crellin’s wall con-
struction reveals the inherent qualities of 
quarry-faced masonry.

A close examination of Crellin’s twelve 
stone farmhouses shows how, over time, 
the stonemason and his clients evolved 
away from the strict implementation 
of the house designs from The Canada 
Farmer toward a new vision for the plan-
ning of their farmhouses. Far from being 
remote and isolated, the houses are evi-
dence that the farmers were connected 
to the mainstream through new develop-
ments in transportation, technology, 
and aesthetic thought emanating from 
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abroad and visible in sophisticated urban 
centres like London in Ontario. What 
makes this research especially potent is 
that by 1891 in Crellin’s last known build-
ing, his patron David Lawrence appears to 
have believed that he invented something 
new, publishing an illustrated description 
of his house in a major American farm 
journal. Lawrence’s foray into publishing 
illustrates that these farmers were keenly 
aware of their ties to the world and that 
they too could participate in the inter-
national economy of design ideas.

MODELS FOR INSPIRATION: 
JAMES AVON SMITH AND  
THE CANADA FARMER 

 “I desire my reader to observe carefully how 

much of his pleasure in building is derived, 

or should be derived, from admiration of the 

intellect of men whose names he knows not.” 

—Ruskin, The Stones of Venice.3

In 1864, The Globe newspaper in Toronto 
began publishing The Canada Farmer, a 
biweekly journal. It included a column 
titled “Rural Architecture” in many of 
its issues written by the prolific Toronto-
based architect James Avon Smith [1832-
1918]. His ideas were up-to-date and he 
realized that through print media he 
could provide readers with construction 
advice and helpful suggestions to guide 
their thinking and aesthetic choices. Over 
the course of roughly ten years he pub-
lished designs for approximately eighteen 
houses, two churches, four schoolhouses, 
an octagonal exhibition building, and 
buildings for a farm of one hundred 
acres. Smith’s articles published in The 
Canada Farmer were the only Canadian 
source that disseminated modern design 
ideas to a Canadian readership until The 
Canadian Architect and Builder appeared 
in 1888. The main competition was 
American pattern book publishing, which 

increased over the years; Canadians read 
and ordered house patterns from them. 
According to Harold Kalman, “Canadian 
architects and builders read those pattern 
books which must have had an immense 
impact on their designs, but few of the 
associated houses have been identified.”4

Smith read American pattern book lit-
erature citing Andrew Jackson Downing 
[1815-1852] and Lewis Falley Allen [1800-
1890] in some of his house descriptions. 
Smith agreed with Downing’s statement 
that “a good house is a powerful means 
of civilization . . .”5 In the same article Smith 
borrowed a house plan from Downing and 
quoted his advice: “The house should look 
like a farmhouse, expressing the beauty of 
a farmer’s life . . .”6 In another description, 
he quoted Allen who wrote: “The house 
should present an agreeable aspect from 
all viewing points . . .”7 Smith’s articles also 
reveal that he was aware of larger inter-
national trends. Another major source was 
the work of the prominent British theorist 
John Ruskin [1819-1900]. As Henry-Russell 
Hitchcock observed, “Ruskin had almost 
from the original publication of his Seven 
Lamps of Architecture in 1849 more readers 
beyond the seas than at home.”8 Although 
he does not name Ruskin, when one reads 
Smith’s articles, Ruskin’s ideas are appar-
ent.9 Like Ruskin, Smith prized the qualities 
of stone, saying: “There is . . . an air of sta-
bility and durability about a stone struc-
ture; age, so far from being destructive to 
it, only increases its beauty . . .”10 

In an article published in 1869, Smith 
stated that “many of the designs from 
The Canada Farmer have been used as 
models all over the province.”11 Smith’s 
first three elevations are discussed by 
Jessica Mace in her 2013 article examin-
ing vernacular nineteenth-century Gothic 
Revival houses in Southern Ontario. Mace 
has shown that Smith is responsible for 
more houses in Ontario than any other 

nineteenth-century architect, stating that 
his plans were “meant to be a basic and 
versatile prototype rather than a direct 
model.”12 In his examination of nine-
teenth-century housing in downtown 
Toronto, Scott Weir outlined the history 
and development of the bay-and-gable 
house style from its origins in eighteenth-
century England. Bay-and-gable houses 
appeared in Toronto from around 1870 
to 1900.13 Smith wrote in 1867: “A home 
similar to the above [Smith’s drawing] 
was erected in Toronto in 1863 . . .”14 He 
illustrated that article with his flat façade 
story-and-a-half “Country House.” It has 
an interior plan almost identical to the 
house plans illustrated in Weir’s article.15

The success of Smith’s published designs 
in The Canada Farmer was due to the clar-
ity and simplicity of his plans. They were 
easily adapted to stylistic changes, tightly 
packed building sites, and city restrictions. 
Best of all, the designs were available to 
farmers and builders for a dollar a year 
or eight cents a copy from the presses at 
the Globe newspaper. 

A RURAL “BUILDER AND 
CONTRACTOR”: JOHN 
THOMPSON CRELLIN16

 “In no art is there closer connection 

between our delight in the work and our 

admiration of the workman’s mind than in 

architecture, and yet we rarely ask for a 

builder’s name.”

—Ruskin, The Stones of Venice.17

As the recent articles by Mace and 
Weir suggest, the implementation of 
Smith’s designs fell to the many anonym-
ous craftsmen and clients throughout 
Ontario who found inspiration in The 
Canada Farmer. This article will focus 
on a group of twelve modest but dis-
tinctive farmhouses built by one crafts-
man—John Thompson Crellin—and the 
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clientele of farmers who hired him and 
contributed to translating architectural 
diagrams into farmhouses reflecting 
their way of life. Crellin’s stonemasonry 
made Smith’s designs into a physical real-
ity in the Ontario landscape. The farm-
houses reveal the striking yet hitherto 
little-examined potential for the humble 
craftsman to realize the larger aesthetic 
goals advocated by prominent theorists 
such as Ruskin who inspired sophisticated 
urban architects like Smith. Instead of hir-
ing an architect, Crellin’s clients paid the 
stonemason to provide them with the 
good taste and sophistication that Smith 
hoped would transform the countryside. 
With their distinctive masonry, pattern-
ing, and colour, the houses examined in 
this article are in essence signed “John 
Thompson Crellin.” 

Crellin was born in Ulverston, Cumbria, 
England, in 1837 (fig. 1).18 The Crellin 
family originally came from the Isle of 
Man; building in stone was a family 
speciality.19 The single critical event 
in Crellin’s career was his decision to 
immigrate to Oxford County, Ontario, 
sometime between 1865 and 1869.20 An 
informal family history called “Branches” 
tells that the Crellin and McComb fam-
ilies were friends in England when the 
McCombs immigrated to Oxford County 
in 1850. Crellin married Elizabeth McComb 
in 1870 and built his first farmhouse for 
her family. At the time of his marriage, 
Crellin bought eight acres of land, two 
kilometres north of Kintore on what is 
now Highway 119, and began building the 
picturesque stone house that became the 
Crellin home. 

When Crellin immigrated to Canada, 
the impact of James Avon Smith’s farm-
house designs was already being felt 
across Southern Ontario. The Canada 
Farmer had been in production for a 
few years and Canada had just become 

a nation with Confederation in 1867. 
The Canadian Bureau of Agriculture was 
established in 1852 and the farm econ-
omy of Southwestern Ontario changed 
so radically, that by 1867 there were two 
hundred cheese factories in the province. 
In 1873, butter factories were introduced 
as well.21 In the context of Oxford County, 
one of the most discernible results of 
agricultural policies was the change 
from wheat to dairy farming. As a conse-
quence, farmers were making money and 
the visual aspect of their farms changed 
accordingly. Shanties and wood frame 
buildings were replaced or supplemented 
by picturesque masonry houses that by 
their very nature were expensive. In an 
article written for the November 15, 1872, 
issue of The Canada Farmer, an author vis-
iting Southwestern Ontario farms stated:

Formerly, on my last visit, these men, in 

very many cases, had “poor conveyances, or 

none, poor horse teams, and often only oxen, 

almost always there were old log houses,” 

and old log barns and, with few exceptions, 

very poor fences. Now the case is most 

materially altered for the better, and I am 

pleased to record, that in a vast number of 

cases these men have good, and even hand-

some buggies, and occasionally good double 

seated wagons, drawn by fine horses, with 

good substantial, and even ornamental har-

ness. These have replaced the old teams 

and the log barns are gradually ceasing to 

exist as such, but are degraded into cattle 

sheds. Good substantial frame barns are 

now seen in every direction. There are still 

occasionally seen some old log houses that 

are inhabited, a memento of former “rais-

ings” and beginning in the bush. But, very 

often these stand close by good frame or 

brick edifices, well and comfortably fur-

nished [sic].22

Crellin thus immigrated to a rural con-
text transitioning toward more lucrative 
and stable farm production. It was there 

that he would make his career building 
homes for a prosperous clientele. The 
twelve houses that can be firmly attrib-
uted to him are situated in the northwest 
quadrant of Oxford County on dairy 
farms scattered through the country-
side near Thamesford, Kintore, Medina, 
Lakeside, Wildwood Park, Embro, and 
Golspie, all sites located north and west 
of Woodstock, the county seat.

This article is based on a close analysis 
of these twelve buildings, which can be 
dated to the period between 1870 and 
1891. One source of inspiration was very 
likely five drawings published by Smith in 
The Canada Farmer. Each of the designs 
will be listed in the order published by 
Smith along with the twelve Crellin farm-
houses and the date of each house if 
known. The first design is the “Suburban 
Villa or Farm House”23 that appeared in 
The Canada Farmer in 1864 (fig. 2.1), also 
known as the “L,” “bent,” or the “cross 
wing house.24 The six houses by Crellin 
based on this model are: the Duncan 
house, 1872 (fig. 3); the Crellin house, 
c. 1878 (fig. 4); the Clarke house, 1882 
(fig. 5); the Towle house (a two-story ver-
sion), c. 1885 (fig. 6); the Lawrence (fig. 7) 
and the Alexander Sutherland houses, 
both from 1891 (fig. 8). The second design 
by Smith that inspired Crellin’s clients 
was a one-and-a-half-story “Cheap Farm 
House,” published in 1864 (fig. 2.2), also 
widely known as the “Ontario Cottage.”25

The three farmhouses that Crellin built 
using this model were the McComb house, 
c. 1870 (fig. 9); the Robert Sutherland 
(fig. 10) and the McCorquodale (fig. 11) 
houses, both undated. The third plan 
used by Crellin is “A Two-Story Farm 
House” of 1865 (fig. 2.3), characterized 
by a centre front two-story projection 
edged in quoins, with a window above 
the front door.26 The William Reid house 
is the one instance of this plan adapted 
by Crellin, with the date “1885” carved 
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FIG. 2.1. “SUBURBAN VILLA OR FARM HOUSE,” THE CANADA FARMER, 1864,  
VOL. 1, NO. 9, P. 132. | TORONTO REFERENCE LIBRARY, SPECIAL COLLECTIONS DEPARTMENT.

FIG. 2.2. “A CHEAP FARMHOUSE,” THE CANADA FARMER, 1864,  
VOL. 1, NO. 22, P. 340. | TORONTO REFERENCE LIBRARY, SPECIAL COLLECTIONS DEPARTMENT.

FIG. 2.3. “A TWO-STORY FARMHOUSE,” THE CANADA FARMER, 1865,  
VOL. 2, NO. 8, P. 116-117. | TORONTO REFERENCE LIBRARY, SPECIAL COLLECTIONS DEPARTMENT.

FIG. 2.4. “A CHEAP COUNTRY HOUSE,” THE CANADA FARMER, 1868,  
VOL. 5, NO. 16, P. 244-245. | TORONTO REFERENCE LIBRARY, SPECIAL COLLECTIONS DEPARTMENT.

FIG. 2.5. DESIGN OF A SMALL FARM DWELLING, CANADA FARMER, 1871,  
VOL. 3, NO. 1, P. 16 | TORONTO REFERENCE LIBRARY, SPECIAL COLLECTIONS DEPARTMENT.

into the façade (fig. 12). The fourth model is the story-and-a-
half “Cheap Country House” of 1868 (fig. 2.4).27 This farmhouse 
has a centre gable with a wing on either side. The Seaton house 
inspired by this design has a cartouche in the front gable with 
the inscription: “Erected in 1873 by Francis German and John 
Seaton” (fig. 13). The final house plan used by Crellin is Smith’s 
“Design of a Small Farm Dwelling,”28 a symmetrical house with 
two equal-sized front gables, published in 1871 and directly 
inspired by one of Downing’s designs (fig. 2.5).29 The Clifford 
house completed in 1877 follows this plan (fig. 14). In addition 
to identifying these farmhouses, my research reveals a complex 
process by which the craftsman and his clients contributed to 
transforming those designs into highly distinctive structures 
that incorporated not only up-to-date planning and technology, 
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but also a sophisticated visual aesthetic 
derived from the very soil upon which 
these houses were built. 

THE STONEMASON’S AESTHETIC: 
ABERDEEN BOND AND 
CONSTRUCTED POLYCHROME

 “Of the many broad divisions under which 

architecture may be considered, none 

appear to me more significant than that 

into buildings whose interest is in their 

walls . . .” 

—Ruskin, The Lamp of Power.30

In all his houses, Crellin used a distinctive 
pattern of stone construction I will refer 
to as “Aberdeen Bond.” This masonry style 
began to evolve at the end of the eight-
eenth century in and around Aberdeen, 
Scotland. Small stones called “pinnings” 
or “cherry caulking”31 were used to fill 
the gaps between large blocks of gran-
ite (fig. 15). In all of Crellin's houses, 
regularly cut “snecks” (three equal-sized 
small squared stones) were stacked verti-
cally between larger rectangular blocks 
(fig. 16).32 On the front façades of Crellin’s 
houses, each course begins at the corner 
with a white limestone quoin, followed 
by three small square snecks of black 
basalt over pink granite over black bas-
alt stacked to the height of the quoin. 
The stack of snecks is followed by a single 
large block of quarry-faced stone, which 
is followed in turn by the three snecks, 
and so on across the façade. The larger 
stones vary in colour, suggesting that 
each was selected at the moment of con-
struction from piles of stones collected 
from the farm fields and transported by 
horses and a stone-boat to the building 
site. The quarry-faced or “rocky” aes-
thetic of Crellin’s façades speaks of the 
high level of skill required for their con-
struction, fulfilling Ruskin’s contention 
that it is “a folly, in most cases, to cast 

away the labour necessary to smooth it; it 
is wiser to make the design granitic itself 
and to leave the blocks rudely squared . . . 
There is also a magnificence in the nat-
ural cleavage of stone . . .”33 Contrasting 
with these rough, fieldstone surfaces, 
all the quoins, sills, lintels, and voussoirs 
of Crellin’s houses are articulated with 
white St. Marys limestone. The overall 
colour palette of each house is thus cre-
ated by contrasting uniform white lines 
above and below windows, and along the 
corners with an infill of subtly varied poly-
chromatic fieldstones. Crellin’s Aberdeen 
Bond farmhouses give the impression of 
a definite overall pattern that from a dis-
tance looks like the weave of a textile or 
a pattern in tile.

Each of the four façades of most of the 
Crellin-built farmhouses uses different 
masonry patterning, indicating a clear hier-
archy based on prominence and visibility. In 
nine cases—Duncan, 1872 (fig. 3), Seaton, 
1873 (fig. 13), Clifford, 1877 (fig. 14), Crellin, 
1878 (fig. 4), McCorquodale (fig. 11), 
Clarke, 1882 (fig. 5), Towle, c. 1885 (fig. 6), 
Lawrence, 1891 (fig. 7), and Alexander 
Sutherland, 1891 (fig. 8)—a secondary 
façade is made up of even courses of 
masonry beginning at each quoin with 
stacks of two snecks in random colours 
rather than three (fig. 17). In all these cases, 
this secondary façade faces a driveway. The 
wall of the house opposite the driveway 
side is made up of courses of squared blocks 
of fieldstone of similar size with no snecks, 
while the back wall of the kitchen wing is 
rubble. If the kitchen wing was not built by 
Crellin, the back of the house is built of rub-
ble as in the case of four houses: McComb, 
1870 (fig. 9), Seaton, 1873 (fig. 13), Robert 
Sutherland (fig. 10), and McCorquodale 
(fig. 11) (the date of the latter two houses 
is unknown).

In one instance—the McComb house 
which was likely Crellin’s first—the north 

secondary façade follows exactly the 
same patterning as the east front façade 
with stacks of three snecks between lar-
ger blocks, suggesting that Crellin was 
new to the use of Aberdeen Bond. He 
arrived at the colour combination of 
black over pink over black snecks at the 
second-floor level of both façades of the 
McComb house after many experiments 
using coloured snecks in various combina-
tions, on the east and north walls facing 
the driveway that encircled the house. 
The south wall of the house on this drive-
way is made up of courses of quarry-faced 
blocks alternating with stacks of two ran-
domly coloured snecks, such that three 
sides of the McComb house are built in 
Aberdeen Bond, two of which use courses 
containing three snecks and one with 
courses of two stacked snecks. 

In the two remaining instances of Crellin’s 
work—the Robert Sutherland house 
(fig. 10) and the Reid house, 1885 (fig. 12) 
—no special secondary façade is included. 
The William Reid house has snecks in 
reverse order—pink over black over 
pink. In both houses, the two sidewalls 
perpendicular to the front façade consist 
of regular courses of large blocks with no 
snecks. The striking masonry of Crellin’s 
houses seems to be the built realization 
of Ruskin’s dictum that “the smaller the 
building the more necessary that the 
masonry be bold and vice versa.”34 We can 
never know what exactly this extraordin-
ary stonemason was reading, but in these 
farmhouses we find astonishing parallels 
between his work and the writings of 
Ruskin on colour, pattern, and masonry. 

In Crellin’s architecture, Aberdeen Bond 
was a vehicle for constructed polychrome, 
a key characteristic of late nineteenth-cen-
tury architecture in the United Kingdom 
and North America. Ruskin’s assertion that 
“the true colours of architecture are those 
of natural stone”35 is especially relevant 
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FIG. 3. DUNCAN HOUSE, 29TH LINE, NO. 7006, NEAR HARRINGTON,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | KAREN E. ARMSTRONG.

FIG. 5. CLARKE HOUSE,1882, 45TH LINE, NO. 5753, NORTH OF GOLSPIE,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | SPECIAL THANKS TO STEVE MACDONALD.

FIG. 4. CRELLIN HOUSE, 19TH LINE, NO. 6150 (HIGHWAY 119), NORTH OF KINTORE,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | C. 1903 CARTER AND ISSACS OF ST MARYS. SPECIAL THANKS TO KRISTA CRELLIN.

FIG. 6. TOWLE HOUSE, 19TH LINE, NO. 6432 (HIGHWAY 119), MEDINA,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | KAREN E. ARMSTRONG.

FIG. 7. LAWRENCE HOUSE, 1891, 209 ALLEN ST., THAMESFORD,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | AMERICAN AGRICULTURIST, 1894.

FIG. 8. ALEXANDER SUTHERLAND HOUSE, 1891, ROAD 74, NO. 4358, GOLSPIE,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | SPECIAL THANKS TO KEN JUDGE.
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FIG. 9. McCOMB HOUSE, 33RD LINE, NO. 6603, NEAR HARRINGTON,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | KAREN E. ARMSTRONG.

FIG. 10. ROBERT SUTHERLAND HOUSE, ROAD 74, NO. 4357, GOLSPIE,  
OXFORD COUNTY.  | KAREN E. ARMSTRONG.

FIG.11. McCORQUODALE HOUSE, 29TH LINE, NO. 6565, NEAR HARRINGTON,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | UNDATED EARLY PHOTOGRAPH BY JOYCE GROVES.

FIG. 13. SEATON HOUSE, 25TH LINE, NO. 6594, LAKESIDE,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | KAREN E. ARMSTRONG.

FIG. 12. REID HOUSE, 37TH LINE, NO. 6642 (HIGHWAY 6), NORTH OF EMBRO,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | KAREN E. ARMSTRONG.

FIG. 14. CLIFFORD HOUSE, 31ST LINE, NO. 7144, WILDWOOD PARK,  
OXFORD COUNTY. | KAREN E. ARMSTRONG.


















